IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

EDWARD H. DEVINE, JR, et al. ) ClVIL ACTI ON
V.

AMERI CA' S VHOLESALE )
LENDER, et al. ) NO. 07-3272

VEMORANDUM

Bartle, C. J. Sept enber 25, 2008
Plaintiffs, Edward H. Devine, Jr. and his wife Victoria

Ann Devine, bring this action against defendants, Anerica's

Whol esal e Lender ("AW."), Countryw de Home Loans, Inc.

("Countrywi de"), U S. Bank, N. A ("US. Bank"), and Patri ot

Mort gage Conpany of Anerica, Inc. ("Patriot").! Plaintiffs

all ege violations of federal and state consunmer lending |aws in

connection with the June 10, 2005 refinancing of two nortgages

totaling approximately $2.5 mllion on their home in Wayne,

Pennsyl vania. More specifically, plaintiffs assert: a claimin

Count | of the conplaint under the Federal Truth in Lending Act,

15 U.S.C. §8 1601, et seq.; clains in Counts Il and |V under

Pennsyl vania's Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law

("UTPCPL"), 73 PA. Cons. STAT. ANN. 8§ 201-1, et seq.; a claimin

Count |l under the Real Estate Settlenent Practices Act, 12

1. On January 21, 2008, a default was entered agai nst Patri ot
for its failure to appear, plead or otherwi se defend itself in
this action.



US C 8§ 2601, et seq.; and a claimin Count |V under
Pennsylvania's Credit Services Act, 73 PA. CoNs. STAT. ANN. § 2181,
et seq. Now pending before the court are: (1) the notion of
def endants AW, Countrywi de and U.S. Bank for summary judgnent;
and (2) the cross-notion of plaintiffs for partial sumary
judgnment with respect to their right to rescind the | oan and for
al l eged violations of 8§ 201-7 of the UTPCPL as set forth in Count
Il of the conplaint.

I .

Pursuant to Rule 56(c) Federal Rules of Gvil
Procedure, sunmary judgnent should be "rendered if the pleadings,
t he di scovery and disclosure materials on file, and any
affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any materi al
fact and that the novant is entitled to judgnent as a matter of
law.” Fed. R Civ. P. 56(c). A dispute is genuine if the
evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict

for the non-noving party. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477

U S. 242, 248 (1986). A factual dispute is material when it

"m ght affect the outcone of the suit under the governing |aw. "
Id. After reviewi ng the evidence, the court makes all reasonabl e
i nferences fromthe evidence in the |ight nost favorable to the

non-novant. In re Flat dass Antitrust Litig., 385 F.3d 350, 357

(3d Cir. 2004).
.
The followi ng facts are either undisputed or viewed in

the light nost favorable to the non-novant. The plaintiffs
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sought to refinance the two nortgages on their hone in Wayne,
Pennsyl vania into one nortgage with | ower nonthly paynents. The
princi pal anbunt of the nortgage they sought was between $2.4 and
$2.5 mllion. Refinancing also offered the possibility of
obtai ning cash fromthe lender. The plaintiffs discussed their
desired loan terns with Kenneth Gurich, a famly friend and a
| oan broker enployed by Patriot. The plaintiffs had previously
worked with M. Gurich in connection with the initial financing
of their home. They discussed with M. Gurich the subject of
obtaining a |loan that would allow themto nmake interest-only
paynents for at |east one year in the anpunt of $3,500 a nonth.
Countrywi de rejected the initial |oan application
submtted on behalf of the plaintiffs by M. Gurich. However,
it made a counteroffer for two |oans at a higher interest rate
and for lower principal anobunts. At his deposition, M. Gurich
testified that he comunicated the terns of the counteroffer to
the plaintiffs, including Countrywide's rejection of plaintiffs’
request for a single loan.? The plaintiffs agreed to nove
forward with the | oans on Countrywi de's terns but "held out hope"
that Countrywi de would alter the terns. The | oan approval
process continued until the day of settlenent, and the anount of

t he | oans changed nunerous tinmes prior to settlenent.

2. Notably, M. Devine testified at his deposition that M.
Gurich informed himthat Countryw de's counteroffer structured
the transaction as two loans. M. Devine further testified that
he knew that Countryw de did not agree to provide them one | oan,
and M. Gurich never infornmed himthat he was successful in
negoti ating a transaction consisting of one | oan.
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On June 10, 2005, Mchael Kuldiner, atitle agent with
MAK Abstract, LLC, conducted the loan closing at the plaintiffs
home. The loan terns, as set forth in the | oan docunents
presented to themat the closing by M. Kuldiner, pronpted them
tocall M. Gurich. Plaintiff Edward Devine infornmed M.

G urich over the tel ephone that the | oan docunents did not
provi de the paynment options he and his wife sought. The
Anortization Schedule for the first loan reflects a nonthly

nort gage paynent exceedi ng $8,400. M. Gurich then tel ephoned
Countrywi de and reported back to the plaintiffs that the desired
paynent option would be added to the package after the first
nmont h' s paynent .

As a result of these assurances, the plaintiffs
executed the | oan docunments. Both signed, and M. Devine, in
addition, initialed every page of the first nortgage for
$2, 275, 000, which is designated Loan Number 101590973. They al so
signed and M. Devine initialed every page of the second nortgage
for $320,950, which is designated Loan Nunmber 107978302.

The plaintiffs also signed and dated a Notice of Right
to Cancel for both |loans. The Notice for each | oan states that
t he "undersi gned each acknow edge recei pt of two conpletely
filled in copies of the above Notice of R ght to Cancel.™
According to plaintiffs, M. Kuldiner left a package of papers
with themat closing and this package contained "only two Notice

of Right to Cancel forns," rather than the extra copies for each



| oan which they agreed that they had recei ved when they signed
the Notice of R ght to Cancel fornms.

Upon receiving Countrywide's first notice of paynent
due in the anpbunt of $8,408.84, M. Devine contacted Countryw de.
Countrywi de informed M. Devine that the first paynment should be
for $8,408.84 but that he would have the option of paying
approxi mately $3,500 in Septenber, 2005. |In fact, the plaintiffs
were never given the option of paying only $3,500 nonthly.

L1l

The defendants nove for summary judgnment with respect
to plaintiffs' clains in Count | of the conplaint alleging the
defendants inperm ssibly split the transaction into two loans in
violation of the Truth in Lending Act ("TILA"), 15 U S.C. § 1601,
et seq. A claimfor "loan splitting" was the focus in Kane v.

Equity One, Inc., No. 03-3931, 2003 W 22939377 (E.D. Pa.

Nov. 21, 2003). After consulting cases fromsister jurisdictions
t hat addressed the issue, the court in Kane described | oan
splitting as "a situation where the debtor wants, requests and
expects to get a single |loan consunmated in a single transaction,
but the | ender instead docunents and nmakes di sclosures for the
loan as if it were two separate transactions.” 1d. at *2. Loan
splitting contravenes TILA' s mandate requiring | enders to provide

a single, conprehensible disclosure of the cost of credit.?

3. Title 15 U. S.C. 8§ 1604(a) del egates authority in the Federal

Reserve Board to promul gate regul ati ons necessary to render the

subchapter effective. The Federal Reserve Board' s Regul ation Z,
(continued. . .)
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However, a |l ender may structure the transaction as two separate
| oans provided the borrower's expectations are not frustrated.

ld.; see also Stokes v. Wirld Savings Bank, No. 00-7020, 2001 WL

1002461 (N.D. I11. Aug. 31, 2001).

The defendants argue the evidence fails to show that
the plaintiffs were ever led to believe they would receive a
single loan. In support, they rely on the deposition testinony
of M. Gurich and M. Devine, as well as the executed | oan
docunents for the two loans. In response, the plaintiffs
highlight their initial intention that they receive a single
| oan. They further contend that the exact terns of the |oan
transaction were not finalized until settlenent.

Al t hough the plaintiffs may have initially requested a
single loan, all of the evidence denonstrates that the plaintiffs
never expected to receive a single loan. M. Gurich testified
that he informed the plaintiffs that Countryw de rejected their
application for a single | oan but nade a counteroffer consisting
of two | oans. According to M. Devine, M. Gurich never told
hi mthat Countryw de had approved the plaintiffs' request for a
single loan. Thus, the parties do not dispute that: (1) the

plaintiffs were never led to believe that their request for a

3.(...continued)

set forth in 12 CF. R § 226.17, provides that the "creditor
shal | make the disclosures required by this subchapter clearly
and conspicuously in witing, in a formthat the consunmer may
keep." 12 CF. R 8 226.17(a)(1). This regulation is violated
where two separate disclosure statenents are provided for a
singl e | oan.
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single | oan had been approved; and (2) the plaintiffs were never

i nformed that Countryw de had approved their request for a single
| oan. Notably, the affidavit of plaintiff Edward Devine
submitted in response to the defendants' notion for summary

j udgnment never states that he expected the transaction to be
structured as one |l oan. The evidence sinply does not support a
finding that the plaintiffs expected or were |ed to expect they
woul d receive a single | oan from Countryw de.

Accordingly, the court will grant summary judgnent in
favor of the defendants on plaintiffs' clains in Count | under
the TILA insofar as these clains are based on the |oan splitting
al | egati ons.

| V.

The defendants nove for summary judgment with respect
to plaintiffs' clains in Count | of the conplaint for statutory
damages under the TILA not connected with their clains for
rescission. Plaintiffs' response indicates that their request
for damages under the TILA stemexclusively fromthe plaintiffs
demand for a rescission of the loan. Plaintiffs state in their
brief:

THE PLAI NTI FFS' RESCI SSI ON OF THE LOAN W THI N

THREE YEARS FROM THE DATE OF THE TRANSACTI ON

AT | SSUE WAS TI MELY, AS IS TH S ACTION TO

ENFORCE THE DEFENDANTS WRONGFUL REFUSAL TO

ADHERE TO THE PLAI NTI FFS' RESCI SSI ON DEMAND.

To the extent plaintiffs seek danages under the TILA for

violations that allegedly occurred beyond rescission, the one

year statute of limtations has run on these clainms. 15 U. S.C
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8§ 1640(e). The loan closing occurred on June 10, 2005. The
plaintiffs' conplaint was filed well over two years later, on
August 9, 2007.

W will grant defendants' notion for sunmary judgnent
under the TILA for statutory danages not connected with their
claimfor rescission.*

V.

Def endants, AW and U.S. Bank, nove for summary
judgment with respect to Count Il of the conplaint in which
plaintiffs seek danages under the Real Estate Settl enent
Practices Act ("RESPA"), 12 U S.C. 8 2601, et seq. In their
response to defendants' notion for summary judgnent, plaintiffs
advise that they will not pursue this claimbecause the
def endants have responded to their "qualified witten request.™
They advise the notion to dismss Count IIl is unopposed. W
have reviewed the record and will grant sunmary judgnment in favor
of the defendants on Count I11.

VI .
AW and U.S. Bank nove for sumrary judgnment with

respect to Count |1V of the conplaint, which asserts violations of

4. Plaintiffs have not indicated an intention to raise any
clains via recoupnent or set-off. Title 15 U S.C. § 1640(e)
provi des: "This subsection does not bar a person from asserting
a violation of this subchapter in an action to collect the debt
whi ch was brought nore than one year fromthe date of the
occurrence of the violation as a matter of defense by recoupnent
or set-off in such action, except as otherw se provided by state
law." Thus, a debtor may raise a TILA violation defensively as
an objection to the proof of claimof a creditor. 1n re Norris,
138 B.R 467, 470 (E.D. Pa. 1992).
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88 2183(3), 2183(4), 2184, 2185 and 2186 of Pennsylvania's Credit
Services Act ("CSA"), 73 PA Cons. STAT. ANN. 88 2181, et seq.
These sections of the CSA only apply to "credit services
organi zations." Defendants contend they do not fall within the
definition of a "credit services organization.”" Plaintiffs do
not respond to this contention.

The plaintiffs have the burden of proving at trial that
AW and U.S. Bank constitute "credit services organizations," as

that termis defined by § 2182 of the CSA.® The plaintiffs have

5. Section 2182 of the CSA defines a "Credit services
organi zati on" as foll ows:

(1) A person who, with respect to the extension
of credit by others, sells, provides or perforns
or represents that he or she can or wll sell,
provi de or performany of the follow ng services
in return for the paynent of noney or other

val uabl e consi derati on:

(i) Inproving a buyer's credit record,
hi story or rating.

(1i) Obtaining an extension of credit for a
buyer.

(ti1) Providing advice or assistance to a buyer
wth regard to either subparagraph (i) or

(ii).

(2) The termshall not include any of the
fol | ow ng:

(1) Any person organized, chartered or
hol ding a license or authorization
certificate to make | oans or extensions
of credit pursuant to the laws of the
Commonweal th or the United States who is
subj ect to regulation and supervi sion by
(continued. . .)
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failed to produce any evidence that AW. or U S. Bank fits within
the definition of "credit services organizations."

Consequently, summary judgment will be granted in favor
of AWL and U.S. Bank with respect to plaintiffs' clains under the
CSA in Count 1V.

VI,

AW and Countryw de nove for summary judgnment with
respect to plaintiffs' clains in Count |1V of the conpl aint
ari sing under the catch-all provision of Pennsylvania s Unfair
Trade Practices and Consunmer Protection Law ("UTPCPL"), 73 PA
CoNs. STAT. ANN. 8§ 201-2(4)(xxi). Under 8§ 201-2(4)(xxi), "unfair
nmet hods of conpetition” and "unfair or deceptive acts or
practices" include any "fraudul ent or deceptive conduct which

creates a |ikelihood of confusion or of msunderstanding.” 73

5. (...continued)
an official or agency of the
Commonweal th or the United States.

(1i) Any bank, bank and trust conpany, trust
conpany, savi ngs bank, Federal savings
and | oan associ ation or savings bank
| ocated in this Conmonweal th or savi ngs
associ ation or any subsidiary or
affiliate of such institution whose
deposits are eligible for insurance by
t he Federal Deposit |nsurance
Cor poration, the Savings Association
| nsurance Fund of the Federal Deposit
| nsurance Corporation or the
Pennsyl vani a Savi ngs Associ ati on
| nsurance Cor poration.

73 PA. Cons. STAT. ANN. § 2182.
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PA. Cons. STAT. ANN. 8 201-2(4)(xxi). Count 1V alleges AW and
Countrywi de failed to disclose the distribution of the | oan
proceeds, failed to provide the nortgage product prom sed, failed
to disclose that the transaction would be structured as two | oans
and generally msled the plaintiffs regardi ng many aspects of the
loan. Plaintiffs assert such conduct constitutes fraud rendering
AW and Countryw de |iable under the UTPCPL's catch-al
provi si on.

AW and Countryw de contend the parol evidence rule
bars the introduction of evidence of their alleged
m srepresentations in connection with the transacti on because the
al l eged m srepresentations contradict the terns of the | oan
docunents. Defendants further argue plaintiffs cannot prove they
justifiably relied on the defendants' m srepresentations when

entering into the loan. Such reliance is a necessary el enent of

a private cause of action under the UTPCPL. Hunt v. U S. Tobacco
Co., No. 07-2134, 2008 U. S. App. LEXI S 16547, *8-9 (3d Cir
Aug. 5, 2008). Plaintiffs do not respond to the defendants
argunents based on the parol evidence rule.

Under Pennsylvania | aw, evidence of prior or
cont enporaneous oral or witten negotiations or agreenments is
generally inadm ssible to explain or vary the terns of a contract
that covers or purports to cover the entire agreenment of the

parties. Yocca v. The Pittsburgh Steelers Sports, Inc., 854 A 2d

425, 436 (Pa. 2004); Bardwell v. WIlis Co., Inc., 100 A 2d 102,

104 (Pa. 1953). In Yocca, the Pennsylvania Suprene Court
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expl ai ned the fraud exception to the parol evidence rule as
foll ows:

Not ably, while parol evidence may be

i ntroduced based on a party's claimthat
there was fraud in the execution of the
contract, /i.e., that a termwas fraudulently
omtted fromthe contract, parol evidence may
not be adm tted based on a claimthat there
was fraud in the inducenent of the contract,
I.e., that an opposing party nmade false
representations that induced the conpl aining
party to agree to the contract.

Yocca, 854 A . 2d at fn. 26; see also HCB Contractors v. Liberty

Pl ace Hotel Assocs., 652 A 2d 1278, 1279 (Pa. 1995).

The plaintiffs claimthey signed the | oan docunents
based on M. Gurich's assurances that the paynent option they
desired woul d be added to the package after execution of the
docunents. This is fraud in the inducenent. The parol evidence
rule bars the introduction of this evidence because plaintiffs
seek to vary the ternms of the witten | oan docunents, which
purported to cover the parties' entire agreenent. There i s no
evidence that a termwas fraudulently omtted fromthe contract.
Thus, what happened here does not fall within the fraud exception
under Yocca.

G ven Pennsyl vani a's adoption of the parol evidence
rule, the plaintiffs cannot be said to have justifiably relied on
t he defendants' representations regarding the amount of the
nmont hl y paynents due under the | oans because these

representations are in direct conflict with the parties
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contract. Yocca, 854 A . 2d at 502. Thus, plaintiffs' claimunder
the UTPCPL fails.

Accordingly, the court will grant summary judgnent in
favor of AW and Countryw de on plaintiffs' clains in Count 1V
under the catch-all provision of the UTPCPL which are based on
def endants' alleged m srepresentations.®

VI,

The court finds there are genuine issues of materi al
fact with respect to plaintiffs' remaining clainms. Thus, we wll
ot herwi se deny defendants' notion for summary judgnent, as well

as plaintiffs' nmotion for partial summary judgnent.

6. The plaintiffs' brief in opposition to the defendants' notion
for summary judgnent for the first time asserts that their clains
"agai nst the Lender Defendants are based in part on the ground
that a violation of any portion of the UTPCPL, notably here the
violations of 73 P.S. section 201-7 and the violation of any

ot her consuner protection |laws, such as the TILA, constitute per
se violations of section 201-4(2) of the UTPCPL." However,

par agraph 32 of the plaintiffs' conplaint premses their per se
vi ol ations of the UTPCPL on the defendants' alleged violations of
the CSA and the Loan Broker Trade Practices Regul ations ("LBTP")
only. To the extent the plaintiffs have prem sed their clains
under the UTPCPL on the alleged violations of TILA and 8 201-7 of
t he UTPCPL, such clains cone too |ate.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A
EDWARD H. DEVINE, JR, et al. ) Cl VIL ACTI ON
. )
AMERI CA' S VWHOLESALE )
LENDER, et al. ) NO. 07-3272
ORDER

AND NOW this 25th day of Septenber, 2008, for the
reasons set forth in the acconpanyi ng Menorandum it is hereby
ORDERED t hat :

(1) the notion of defendants Anerica's Wol esal e
Lender, Countryw de Hone Loans, Inc., and U S. Bank, N A for
sumary judgnent is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part;

(2) judgnent is entered in favor of Anerica's
Wol esal e Lender, Countryw de Home Loans, Inc., and U. S. Bank,
N. A and against the plaintiffs with respect to plaintiffs' |oan-
splitting clains in Count | of the conplaint;

(3) judgnent is entered in favor of Anerica's
Whol esal e Lender and U.S. Bank, N. A and against the plaintiffs
with respect to plaintiffs' clainms in Count 1l of the conplaint
under the Real Estate Settlenent Practices Act, 12 U S.C. § 2601,
et seq.;

(4) judgnent is entered in favor of Anerica's
Whol esal e Lender and Countryw de Hone Loans, Inc. and agai nst the

plaintiffs with respect to plaintiffs' clainms in Count IV of the



conpl ai nt under Pennsylvania's Credit Services Act, 73 PA. Cons.
STAT. ANN. 88 2181, et seq.;

(5) judgnent is entered in favor of Anerica's
Whol esal e Lender and Countryw de Hone Loans, Inc. and agai nst the
plaintiffs with respect to plaintiffs' clainms in Count IV of the
conpl ai nt under Pennsylvania's Unfair Trade Practices and
Consuner Protection Law, 73 PA. Cons. STAT. ANN. 8 201-2(4) (xxi),
whi ch are based on allegations of fraud;

(6) defendants' notion for summary judgnent is DEN ED
in all other respects; and

(7) plaintiffs' notion for partial sunmary judgnment is
DENI ED

BY THE COURT:

[s/ _Harvey Bartl 111

C. J.



